STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

NOV 16 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

GENE TONY COOPER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001149

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he introduced so called impeachment evidence against Phillip “Red” Farmer which merely reaffirmed Farmer’s claim that Petitioner called him the morning after the murder and confessed to killing the decedent and burning her body since Petitioner was obviously prejudiced where the only other direct evidence against Petitioner was the testimony of Robert “Bo” Southerland who had little to no credibility?

2.

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he told the jury during his opening statement about Petitioner’s prior record and the fact that he went to prison with Robert “Bo” Southerland, and when he later failed to object to the introduction of Petitioner’s prior convictions for housebreaking and grand larceny as unfairly prejudicial since they are similar to the underlying crime for which Petitioner was being tried, and where Petitioner was prejudiced since he testified at trial and his credibility was crucial to his defense?

3.

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to request and obtain an instruction from the trial court that star witness Robert “Bo” Southerland could not testify concerning Petitioner’s prior armed robbery convictions, since such evidence was inadmissible and unfairly prejudicial, and where Petitioner was prejudiced since he testified at trial and his credibility was crucial to his defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert “Bo” Southerland told anyone who would listen following his own 1992 conviction for the murder, kidnapping, and armed robbery of the decedent, and subsequent death sentence, that he, Southerland, killed the decedent, and that Petitioner, Tony Cooper, was not present.¹ Death row inmate Norman Starnes testified Bo Southerland admitted to him that “Tony didn’t have anything to do with it and Tony was not present when it happened.” App. 1062, l. 19 – 1063, l. 15.

Bessie Davis started a prison ministry after she retired as a school teacher. App. 1069, l. 8 – 1070, l. 5. She and fellow ministry volunteer Naida Knotts often met with Bo Southerland and other death row inmates. App. 1070, ll. 6-23. Davis recalled, “I never asked [Bo Southerland], but he shared with me that he did the crime alone, that Tony did not have anything to do with it.” App. 1074, l. 22 – 1076, l. 5.

Knotts remembered that Southerland told her “he [Southerland] had committed the crime.” App. 1084, ll. 4-22. Although Knotts did not bring up the subject of the murder with Southerland, it piqued her interest. At one point Knotts recalled: “I said, well what about Tony? What did he do? And he [Southerland] said, Well, Tony wasn’t even there. He didn’t have anything to do with it.” App. 1084, l. 9 – 1086, l. 4.

Southerland also admitted under oath during a hearing in 1996 that he murdered the decedent and that no one else was involved. He asserted, “I mean I killed the girl. I did it by myself. I mean, there was no help. There was no witnesses, but, I mean, you know, I’d just like to say that I did kill her by myself. There was nobody else involved but me and Kimberly Quinn [the decedent].” App. 792, l. 5 – 796, l. 5.

¹ Southerland’s convictions and death sentence were affirmed in State v. Southerland, 316 S.C. 377, 447 S.E.2d 862 (1994). However, his death sentence was later reversed in Southerland v. State, 337 S.C. 610, 524 S.E.2d 833 (1999).

A Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on January 8, 1990 for murder, armed robbery, kidnapping, forgery, and conspiracy to commit armed robbery. App. 1783-1787. His case was called to trial on February 11, 1991. Petitioner was convicted as indicted and ultimately sentenced to death on February 22, 1991.

The Supreme Court in State v. Cooper, 312 S.C. 90, 439 S.E.2d 276 (1994) reversed Petitioner's conviction for murder and his death sentence and remanded for a new trial since there was no on the record waiver of Petitioner's right to personally address the jury during the guilt phase of his capital trial. Petitioner's remaining convictions were affirmed. Id.

On September 4, 1995, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief as to his remaining convictions. The PCR court reversed Petitioner's non-capital convictions finding his trial counsel's failure to inform Petitioner of his statutory right to make a closing statement to the jury constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. On August 12, 2002, this Court upheld the PCR court's grant of relief and remanded for a new trial. Cooper v. Moore, 351 S.C 207, 569 S.E.2d 330 (2002).

After Petitioner's numerous demands for a speedy trial were denied, his case was finally called to trial on May 22, 2006 before the Honorable Daniel F. Pieper, and a jury. App. 345. Assistant Solicitors B. Harrison Bell and Theodore Lupton represented the state. App. 345. David Bruck, John Duncan, and Stuart Andrews represented Petitioner. App. 345.

In April 2006, as the state was preparing to retry Petitioner, Bo Southerland now claimed Petitioner was the killer and he, Southerland, was just along for the ride. In exchange for Southerland's testimony against Petitioner, the state no longer sought the death penalty against him and Southerland had a chance, for the first time since he was indicted, to receive a thirty year sentence upon resentencing. App. 817, l. 13 – 825, l. 9; App. 952, ll. 5-20.

During Petitioner’s retrial, Southerland was impeached with his prior written and notarized statement dated April 11, 1992 admitting his guilt, and exculpating Petitioner. App. 755-764; See App. 1581-1584. In this statement, which was read aloud to the jury, Southerland’s confession was consistent with what he had told everyone for over a decade—that Petitioner was not with him at the time he knocked the decedent unconscious inside her house and then took her to the pond where he killed her, chopped off her hands and feet with an ax, and burned her body. App. 755-764; App. 1581-1584.

Southerland said Phillip “Red” Farmer told him the decedent was getting a check and that she wanted to buy half a pound of marijuana. App. 756; App. 1581. The price of the marijuana was eight hundred dollars. App. 757; App. 1581. Farmer told Southerland the decedent had been “F’ing up a lot of people’s dope. A lot of people didn’t feel too good about her. She’d been stepping in people’s cocaine . . . That means she’d been cutting the cocaine. Red said, You could kill her.” App. 757-758; App. 1581.

In his statement, Southerland admitted, “I thought about how she killed her young’un to get money for drugs. She deserved it. I shot her in the back. . . . I popped another one. I hit her in the back of the neck. . . . I stood back and pumped two more rounds in her head.”² App. 760-761; App. 1582-1583. He added, “Why I chopped her hands and feet off I’ll never know. I tried to chop off her head.” App. 761; App. 1583.

Southerland elaborated, “The deal was that if anything came down over this they, Red [Farmer] and [Gerald] LeGrand, were going to blame Tony [Petitioner]. They were mad at Tony

² The decedent’s boyfriend, Eugene Carter, was in prison. It was apparently widely believed in the Department of Corrections that she had set fire to her house for insurance money. Her son was apparently killed in the fire. The judge at Petitioner’s retrial allowed the jury to hear this same allegation—but not for the truth of the matter asserted—since it was relevant to explain this belief about the decedent and a possible motive for her murder. App. 1150, l. 16 – 1151, l. 15.

because he wouldn't lend them anymore money. When I was arrested I made a statement putting this on Tony because that's what everyone had planned to do. The statement that I made to the police was not true. I knew where everything was because I had thrown them there myself. Not because Tony had told me anything." App. 761-762; App. 1583.

Southerland admitted in this statement that he cashed the decedent's welfare check at a bank in Cayce. He also found eight hundred dollars in cash (the price of the marijuana) in her purse. He said, "All together, I got about \$1200 worth of money, Valium, and Xanax. I ate the pills myself." App. 762-763; App. 1583-1584. Southerland later continued, "Tony Cooper didn't have anything to do with this. I have made this statement because this is the truth. No one contacted me or asked me to make it. Tony Cooper has not pressured or forced me to make this statement and neither has anyone else. After I decided to make this statement, I sent word to Tony Cooper's lawyer, David Bruck, that I wanted to talk to him. . . . David Bruck told me that I needed to discuss the statement with my own lawyers, because this could hurt my case." App. 763; App. 1584.

Despite this signed and notarized statement, his prior confession under oath in court, and the fact that he consistently maintained for over a decade that Petitioner was innocent and that he murdered the decedent on his own, Southerland testified at Petitioner's retrial in May 2006, when it was then possible that he could be sentenced to only thirty years, that all of this was a lie, that Petitioner killed the decedent, and that he, Southerland, was merely present. See App. 698, l. 4 – 717, l. 16. Southerland claimed Petitioner and three other death row inmates, who had all been executed by the time of Petitioner's retrial, had pressured him into confessing that he was the only one involved. App. 724, ll. 3-22; App. 734, l. 7 – 738, l. 21.

Norman Starnes scoffed at Southerland's claim that he was scared of Petitioner and therefore told everyone that he killed the decedent, and that Petitioner was not present. Starnes recalled "they [Petitioner and Southerland] interacted just like most of us did." Starnes remembered

that Petitioner at times bought items for other death row inmates including Southerland when Southerland was without any funds. App. 1062, l. 19 – 1064, l. 15. Starnes said Southerland was not coerced into saying anything by Petitioner. App. 1064, l. 16 – 1065, l. 3.

Red Farmer was incarcerated at Central Correctional Institution (CCI) in Columbia in October 1989. App. 954, l. 21 – 955, l. 6. Farmer later pled guilty to criminal conspiracy for his part in the decedent's death. He faced a sentence of five years imprisonment at the time of Petitioner's first trial. App. 955, ll. 7-23. While the state failed to secure Farmer's presence at Petitioner's retrial in May 2006, his testimony from Petitioner's first trial was read to the jury.³ App. 953, l. 18 – 954, l. 10; See App. 954, l. 11 – 981, l. 11 and App. 987, l. 17 – 990, l. 24 .

Farmer's story was that he conspired with Petitioner to rob the decedent. Farmer claimed he told Petitioner on Wednesday, October 5, 1989 that Eugene Carter, who was the decedent's boyfriend and who was in prison with Farmer, told him the decedent would be receiving an insurance check for twenty eight hundred dollars. Farmer claimed he told Petitioner "that it would be good opportunity to rob her." App. 967, l. 9 – 969, l. 14. Farmer said he was to get five hundred dollars of the insurance money for his part in the robbery. App. 970, ll. 4-10.

Farmer testified that Petitioner called him at CCI on a state phone he had access to because of his work in the library as part of a literacy program. He said he received the call around 10:00 a.m. on Friday, October 6, 1989. App. 971, l. 8 – 972, l. 15. Farmer explained that because the phones were monitored "[w]e talk in riddles." App. 972, ll. 8-19. He claimed at the prior trial that Petitioner told him "[t]hat my intelligence was wrong that she did not have the 2800 [dollars], that

³ Farmer was incarcerated in Texas during Petitioner's retrial in May 2006. He had been convicted of manufacturing methamphetamine and possession of more than four hundred grams of methamphetamine. He was sentenced to life in prison. App. 1005, ll. 7-21. The state failed to timely submit paperwork to Texas to arrange for his transportation to South Carolina for the retrial. Consequently, the trial judge ruled Farmer was an unavailable witness and permitted the state to read his prior testimony into the record over Petitioner's objection.

he completed the construction job that he was working on and that he had burned excess material and was pleased with the job and didn't see any complications." App. 972, l. 20 – 973, l. 2. Farmer said he took this to mean that the decedent did not have the money, that Petitioner killed her, and burned her body. App. 973, ll. 3-14.

Farmer later admitted to a clinical psychology student, Kimberly Turner, who interviewed him in a Texas prison the month of Petitioner's retrial, that he did not tell the truth during Petitioner's first trial and that he wanted to tell the truth "this time." App. 1154, ll. 2-6. Farmer told Turner that he "put a spin" on the facts during Petitioner first trial at the urging of the prosecution to make Petitioner "look bad" and "worse than he was." App. 1152, l. 13 – 1153, l. 14.

Farmer now maintained in May 2006 that he only heard from Petitioner after the murder, and that he was "completely surprised" by the telephone call. App. 1151, l. 16 – 1152, l. 5. However, he still claimed Petitioner was talking to him in "code" and that he confessed to the murder. App. 1149, l. 16 – 1150, l. 15.

On June 1, 2006, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 1545, l. 15 – 1546, l. 7. He was sentenced to life without parole for murder, twenty five years for armed robbery, and five years for conspiracy. Judge Pieper did not impose a sentence for kidnapping pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 since Petitioner was sentenced to life for murder. App. 1559, ll. 13-20.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner convictions and sentence. State v. Cooper, 386 S.C. 210, 687 S.E.2d 62 (Ct. App. 2009). On January 12, 2011, this Court granted a petition for writ of certiorari to review Petitioner's claim that he was denied his right to a speedy trial. However, the Court later dismissed the writ as improvidently granted by order filed November 7, 2012. State v. Cooper, 400 S.C. 256, 734 S.E.2d 166 (2012).

Petitioner then filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on May 13, 2013. Cooper v. South Carolina, 569 U.S. 976 (2013).

On June 5, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 1595-1603. The state filed a return to this application dated December 9, 2013. App. 1604-1610. Petitioner filed an amended application on November 17, 2017 and a second amended application on November 29, 2017. App. 1611-1619. An evidentiary hearing was convened on December 11, 2017 before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. App. 1620. Senior Assistant Attorney General William Edgar Salter represented the state, and Kristy Goldberg represented Petitioner. App. 1620. By order filed May 18, 2018, Judge Maddox denied Petitioner relief. App. 1710-1782.

Because Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated, and Petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The post-conviction relief (PCR) judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he introduced so called impeachment evidence against Phillip “Red” Farmer which merely reaffirmed Farmer’s claim that Petitioner called him the morning after the murder and confessed to killing the decedent and burning her body since Petitioner was obviously prejudiced where the only other direct evidence against Petitioner was the testimony of Robert “Bo” Southerland who had little to no credibility.

After Phillip “Red” Farmer’s testimony from Petitioner’s 1991 trial was read aloud to the jury, trial counsel introduced portions of Farmer’s testimony from his Texas sentencing hearing on August 17, 2001 after a jury convicted him of manufacturing methamphetamine and possession of more than four hundred grams of methamphetamine as impeachment evidence. Specifically, counsel read an excerpt from the testimony in which Farmer discussed this case. The following exchange occurred during Farmer’s direct examination by his attorney:

Answer: **This guy got out on parole *after being locked up 17 years* who happened to be my cell mate and robbed and killed this girl and told me about it.** Well, SLED, which happens to stand for South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, charged me with the same crime they charged him for because I knew about it and I didn’t tell on him.

Question: Did he tell you in a phone conversation or what?

Answer: Yes, sir. Just so happened his niece, which was my age and he’s a little older than me, was coming to visit me. And I called and talked to her one evening and **he got on the phone and told me about it.** Well, she overheard it. And excuse my French, but when the shit hit the fan, I was standing in front of it.

Question: So they prosecuted him and you, too?

Answer: Yes, sir. They locked me up for conspiracy to commit murder, conspiracy to commit kidnapping, conspiracy to commit armed robbery. They said, well, you testify for us and we’ll just give you a conspiracy charge and it won’t even hurt you at all, because I still had a couple of years left in prison

before I could get out. Well, seeing how extensive my record is already, I felt it was in my best interest to tell them what I knew, so I did. **Well, that man got a life sentence and eventually got a death sentence.**

Question: And what did you get?

Answer: I got five years running concurrent with what I already had, which was basically nothing. They just gave - - they just give me a sentence to satisfy me is basically what happened.

App. 1019, l. 1 – 1020, l. 8 (emphasis added).

During Petitioner’s PCR hearing, David Bruck, Petitioner’s trial counsel, testified that he introduced this excerpt from Farmer’s sentencing hearing because in it Farmer omitted his own culpability and essentially made it “sound like he had just overheard this whole transaction . . . - - that he wasn’t guilty of anything, that he’d only pled guilty because it had absolutely no effect.” Bruck continued, “[I]t was a very distorted and dishonest account of his own prior testimony, which actually involved his being the prime mover in this crime and then having gotten an extraordinary sweet deal in exchange for his testimony.” App. 1634, 3-15. However, Bruck readily acknowledged that Farmer still alleged Petitioner confessed to the murder. App. 1634, ll. 16-21. He also recognized that Farmer inaccurately claimed Petitioner had previously served seventeen years in a maximum security prison and was on parole at the time of the robbery and murder. App. 1634, l. 22 – 1635, l. 8. Despite this, Bruck said he thought at the time that this testimony impeached Farmer’s credibility and he argued so to the jury. App. 1635, ll. 9-12.

In addition to introducing Farmer’s prejudicial testimony from his sentencing hearing in 2001, trial counsel also presented the testimony of Kimberly Turner, a clinical psychology student who interviewed Farmer in a Texas state prison in May 2006, three weeks before Petitioner’s retrial. Farmer told Turner that he did not tell the truth during Petitioner’s first trial and that he “put a spin” on the facts at the urging of the prosecution to make Petitioner “look bad” and “worse than he was.” App. 1152, l. 13 – 1153, l. 14. However, this favorable evidence was

significantly outweighed by Farmer's reaffirmance that Petitioner confessed to the murder during a telephone call on the morning of Friday, October 6, 1989. Trial counsel elicited the following testimony from Ms. Turner during her direct examination:

Q: And did he [Farmer] tell you what the first time he heard about the robbery or the murder of Ms. Quinn was?

A: Yes, sir. **It was the morning after it had happened. He stated that he got a phone call at the prison from Mr. Cooper [Petitioner].**

Q: And was that the only phone conversation that he related to you that he had had with Mr. Cooper in this entire matter?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: All right. Did he tell you that he had previously phoned Mr. Cooper himself?

A: He did not.

Q: And did he tell you what . . . Mr. Cooper had to say when he made this phone call after Ms. Quinn's murder?

A: **He [Farmer] said that Mr. Cooper was speaking in some type of code language, that he had said something about the construction job was done. And Mr. Farmer had taken that to mean that Ms. Quinn had been killed.**

App. 1149, l. 16 – 1150, l. 12 (emphasis added).

Highlighting the obvious flaw in this so called impeachment evidence, the solicitor had Turner repeat that Farmer's story, *now that he was telling the truth*, was that Petitioner called him and confessed to the robbery and murder of the decedent:

Q: So he [Farmer] said he's telling the truth now?

A: I'm not sure.

Q: Well, you said that he claimed that he had spun his story last time?

A: He did use that word spin.

Q: But he wasn't going to do it again?

A: That's what he said.

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