**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-001149

RECEIVED
JAN 28 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

GENE TONY COOPER,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Chief Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Court must deny certiorari because evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to prove either deficient performance or prejudice under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), where - in an effort to impeach the damaging, prior sworn testimony of unavailable witness and co-defendant Red Farmer – counsel allowed jurors to hear evidence from Farmer's Texas sentencing proceeding and from the statement that he gave to Kimberly Turner on May 5, 2006.

One of the key issues at Petitioner Cooper's retrial and on appeal was whether the trial judge erred by finding that Phillip "Red" Farmer was an unavailable witness and by allowing the State to publish Farmer's prior sworn testimony to the jury. *See State v. Cooper*, 386 S.C. 210, 218-21, 687 S.E.2d 62, 67-69 (Ct. App. 2009) (*Cooper III*), *cert. dismissed as improvidently granted*, 400 S.C. 256, 734 S.E.2d 166 (2012), *cert. denied*, 569 U.S. 976 (2013). Although the trial judge overruled counsel's objection, he permitted counsel to present a great deal of additional impeaching evidence, which occurred after Farmer's 1991 testimony and counsel did so. *See App. 1004-1031; 1127-41*.¹ Petitioner now complains of the manner in which counsel sought to impeach Farmer's prior testimony.

Respondent submits that this Court must deny certiorari because evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to prove either deficient performance or prejudice under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), where - in an effort to impeach the damaging prior sworn testimony of unavailable witness and co-defendant Red Farmer – counsel allowed jurors to hear evidence from Farmer's Texas sentencing proceeding and a the statement that he gave to Kimberly Turner on May 5, 2006. *See App. 1738-*

¹ In addition to the challenged evidence, counsel published to the jury that several arrest warrants were issued in Aiken County but that Farmer was never prosecuted on those charges, and a bench warrant was issued when he failed to show. One warrant was destroyed but one was still pending at the time of trial. *App. 1004-05*. Counsel also published Farmer's two Texas convictions from 2001 for manufacturing methamphetamine and possession of methamphetamine, for which he received two life sentences. *App. 1005*.

45.

Mr. Bruck's assessment was that Farmer was an important prosecution witness because he was only witness to provide direct evidence of Petitioner's involvement in the conspiracy to rob the victim, and he was the person who put the conspiracy to rob the victim in motion. Yet, Mr. Bruck felt that there were problems with Farmer's credibility. *App. 1628-31; 1666-67; 1669.*

Mr. Bruck testified that the defense had prepared their case as if Farmer would testify in person at the 2006 trial. "[W]e'd investigated his life since 1989 and gathered a fair amount of ... documentary evidence, about his very colorful history since then, which ... we thought shed a great deal of adverse light on his credibility, including a different version of his own involvement in the crime that he gave during his own sentencing hearing in a Texas criminal trial where he ultimately received a life sentence for drug trafficking, and so ... he had told a different version of this crime under oath, and we had that." Also, counsel had circumstantial evidence that Farmer had been an informant for the Aiken County Sheriff's Department because he was allowed to stay out on bond for three years following his arrest, and he had fled the jurisdiction while out on bond for charges there. This all occurred after Farmer had received a very light sentence for his involvement in Kimberly Quinn's murder. *App. 1631; 1671.*

Mr. Bruck explained Farmer's perceived motive to lie as follows:

Well, he would have been culpable for the murder if -- if he had helped to set it up, no matter who actually committed it, and so his motive -- I mean, what I argued to the jury at the second trial was that ... he had an obvious motive to cooperate with the State in order to get leniency, and he got an extraordinarily lenient deal, but he also had a motive not to -- well, we argued that there was a second person that wasn't Tony Cooper with Southerland who committed this crime and that he had a motive to -- not to name that person because that person could flip back on him, and also he appeared to have a motive or a reason for a grudge against Tony Cooper having to do with a history of drug trafficking at CCI and that Cooper, after he had gotten out, had run afoul of this drug trafficking ring or whatever by refusing to lend them money or words to that effect.

App. 1637-38. See also App. 1412; 1420; 1423-40 (counsel's closing argument).

In response to questioning about why counsel published the Texas sentencing transcript even though Farmer still blamed Petitioner for the murder, mentioned that Petitioner was on parole after serving seventeen years in prison and had been in a maximum security prison (*see App. 1019-20*), Mr. Bruck explained that:

... [Farmer] is omitting his own culpability. Basically makes it sound like he had just overheard this whole transaction and that he had only plead guilty -- that he wasn't guilty of anything, that he'd only pled guilty because it had absolutely no effect. And, in fact, said something about just to satisfy me, they gave him a charge which made it sound as though this was sort of part of his cover or something. I mean, it was just a -- it was a very distorted and dishonest account of his own prior testimony, which actually involved his being the prime mover in this crime and then having gotten an extraordinarily sweet deal in exchange for his testimony.

App. 1632-34. See also App. 1635.

Mr. Bruck conceded that the only benefit to Petitioner for the jury to hear these details about his past was that Farmer's account at the Texas sentencing impeached Farmer's 1991 trial testimony. This was what he argued to Petitioner's jury. *App. 1635*. Also, Mr. Bruck would have weighed the prejudice to Petitioner from jurors learning this adverse information against the necessity for offering further evidence to impeach Farmer's testimony before he presented this evidence to the jury. Mr. Bruck testified that he must have thought that the benefit to Petitioner's case by offering this evidence outweighed any prejudice because he offered the evidence, and that he "would imagine" that this was a matter he would have discussed with co-counsel. *App. 1671-72*.

Petitioner likewise questioned Mr. Bruck about the decision to present evidence of Ms. Turner's May 2006 interview of Farmer, since it showed that he still claimed that Petitioner had

murdered the victim. *See App. 1132-33*. Mr. Bruck testified that he had asked an attorney who was his acquaintance to interview Farmer. Ms. Turner was present for the interview. He conceded that the statement to which Ms. Turner testified was not “fundamentally different” from Farmer’s earlier statements. Mr. Bruck also conceded that, in *hindsight*, he thought that presenting Ms. Turner was a mistake because “I think we lost more than we gained by calling her.” He added, “There were things that we got from her that we wanted, but I think on balance it probably set us back.” *App. 1635-38; 1672-73*.

On cross-examination, he conceded that presenting Ms. Turner was “a mixed bag,” but unequivocally stated that he would not have presented her testimony if he had thought at that it was a mistake to do so at the time of Petitioner’s trial. After his memory was refreshed, Mr. Bruck recalled that Farmer had claimed in the statement to Ms. Turner that someone had helped him put a spin on his trial testimony and that this spin made Petitioner look bad. The obvious inference from that statement was that law enforcement or the prosecution had helped him. *App. 1672-73*. *See also App. 1152, lines 13-17*. Mr. Bruck could not recall whether or not he and co-counsel considered simply publishing the cross-examination of Farmer from 1991, but emphasized that “we found a lot of additional impeachment” and “thought that without that [Farmer’s] testimony would be unchallenged.” *App. 1638*.

In a PCR action, the petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the petitioner must make a twofold showing. First, he must demonstrate that his attorneys’ “representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88. “A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to

reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy.' ” *Id.* (Citation omitted).

Even if an inmate proves deficient performance, he must also prove that he was prejudiced by his attorneys' ineffectiveness. This requires proof “that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Id.* at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. It is insufficient to prove “that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding.” *Id.* at 693, 104 S.Ct. at 2067. Instead, “[c]ounsel's errors must be ‘so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.’” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 104 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687).

Respondent submits that this record supports the PCR judge’s finding that Petitioner had not proven either deficient performance by counsel or prejudice to him under *Strickland*. *App.*

1741-45. As correctly observed by the PCR judge:

Defense counsel are allowed a considerable breadth of discretion in choosing their trial strategies.” *Fleming v. Kemp*, 748 F.2d 1435, 1451 (11th Cir. 1984). An attack on the effectiveness of counsel’s cross-examination of a witness is a matter generally entrusted to the professional discretion of counsel. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690 (where a defendant focuses on counsel's “strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts,” such choices “are virtually unchallengeable”); *United States v. Nersesian*, 824 F.2d 1294, 1321 (2nd Cir. 1987) (“Decisions whether to engage in cross-examination and if so to what extent and in what manner, are ... strategic in nature” and will not support an

ineffective assistance claim”); *Yarrington v. Davies*, 779 F.Supp. 1304, 1308 (D. Kan. 1991), *aff’d*, 992 F.2d 1077 (10th Cir. 1993) (The extent of examination and cross-examination of witnesses is an area of trial tactics left to the discretion of counsel); *Sallie v. North Carolina*, 587 F.2d 636, 640 (4th Cir. 1978) (*Marzullo v. Maryland* standard was not intended to promote judicial second-guessing on questions of strategy as basic as handling of a witness). The Court finds that counsel’s decision to present the additional impeachment evidence from Farmer’s Texas sentencing proceeding and from the May 6, 2006, interview was objectively reasonable, even though it exposed the jury to prejudicial information about Petitioner that it might not have otherwise heard.

The Court finds that the prosecution’s theory of the case was such that information concerning [Petitioner]’s prior incarceration was inescapable, even if some of the details mentioned by Farmer were not. *See* Grounds (c) and (d), *infra*. Also, Farmer was an important prosecution witness and, as counsel noted at the 2006 retrial, the South Carolina Supreme Court had concluded on direct appeal that the trial judge erroneously restricted [Petitioner]’s cross-examination of Farmer regarding his drug smuggling activities, even though it found the error harmless. [*State v. Cooper*, 312 S.C. 90, 92, 439 S.E.2d 276, 277(1991) (*Cooper D*), *overruled on other grounds*, *Franklin v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 563, 552 S.E.2d 718 (2001)].

App. 1741-42.

Also, the PCR judge correctly considered all of the impeaching evidence presented, rather than considering it piecemeal, and Petitioner has not challenged his finding that counsel’s pretrial investigation of Farmer was reasonable under *Strickland*. ***App. 1742.*** *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691 (“counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary. In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel’s judgments”).² Moreover, the

² Mr. Bruck testified that he was lead counsel in the case, and that he was assisted by Stuart Andrews, Esquire, and Assistant Lexington County Public Defender John Earl “Jack” Duncan, Esquire. Mr. Bruck detailed his prior experience in criminal trial and appellate practice, at length. ***App. 1661-64.*** Respondent notes that retrial differed from most typical cases because Mr. Bruck had represented Petitioner for roughly fifteen years by the time of the 2006 retrial, including the direct appeal, the original PCR proceedings, and the PCR appeal in *Cooper v. Moore*, 351 S.C.

defense's impeachment evidence portrayed Farmer (1) as a con artist and a liar, who consistently minimized his own culpability in the offenses with which he was charged;³ (2) as a drug trafficker who frequently cooperated with – or at least feigned cooperation with - law enforcement when he thought that it was to his benefit; and (3) as someone who consistently shifted blame to others when it was possible for him to do so, and lied about his past. Also, Farmer told Ms. Turner that someone had helped him put a spin on his prior testimony to make Petitioner look guilty but claimed that he would testify truthfully if called in 2006.

Based upon the additional impeachment evidence that was presented, counsel skillfully presented these reasons, the fact he had not been physically present for trial, and other reasons for the jury not to believe Farmer's 1991 testimony. *Tr. pp. 1157-74*. The fact another attorney may have handled the impeachment of Farmer differently does not show that counsel, who had extensive criminal trial and appellate experience,⁴ was deficient in the manner he chose to

207, 569 S.E2d 330 (2002) (*Cooper II*). Further, counsel had transcripts of both Petitioner's original trial and Southerland's trial, and counsel were aware of how the prosecution's witnesses had testified. *App. 1625-27; 1664-65*.

While Mr. Bruck did not recall how many times he had met with Petitioner, Petitioner was cooperative with counsel and Mr. Bruck felt that they had met frequently enough for him and co-counsel to represent Petitioner. Petitioner consistently denied involvement in Kim Quinn's murder. So, the defense at trial was that he was completely innocent. Therefore, counsel relied upon a "reasonable doubt" defense, and tried to expose the credibility problems with the prosecution's main witnesses. *See App. 1632; 1668-69*.

³ For instance, Farmer's Texas sentencing testimony minimized his involvement both in the murder and in the Texas drug charges for he was convicted and was to be sentenced. *See App. 1001-06*.

⁴ Among counsel's many jobs as an attorney, he was an Assistant Richland County Public Defender for over three years, eventually specializing in capital trials; he was the Richland County Public Defender for a year; he handled "the bulk of the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense's death penalty appeals on a contract basis from 1980 through 1987 and was the Chief Attorney of that Office for three and one-half years; he has been the Federal Death

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